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FRONT COVER PHOTOGRAPH 
 
A circa 1900 photograph of the Coleorton Railway bridge on Aqueduct Lane, Gelsmoor, 
together with an artistic impression scaled drawing. The bridge would have had horse 
drawn wagons passing over it during its entire life, as no steam engines were ever used 
on the Coleorton Railway 

 
 
PREFACE 
 
The author’s website already features a publication entitled “A History of the Coleorton 
Railway and the Charnwood Forest Canal”. This publication is a supplement which 
contains further information about the Coleorton Railway. The author has fortunately 
been able to gain access to research information which was carried out by the respected 
local historian and researcher John Crocker which he completed in February 2005. 
Certain parts of his research have been used in this publication.  
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INTRODUCTION 
 
The earliest coal mining centres in Leicestershire were around the outcrops of the 
deeper Leicestershire seams which benefited the Coleorton and Swannington district in 
medieval times. Seasonable movement of coal to markets, by pack-horse, was governed 
by the state of roads and tracks used by the horses, and limitations on output were 
dictated by the weather which greatly affected communications and trade. Therefore, 
remote centres like Coleorton were not the first to reap the full benefits of developing 
transport technologies (turnpike roads, canals and railways). As deeper seams of coal 
were accessed, which in turn released capital from their profits to develop sophisticated 
canal systems during the Industrial Revolution and new collieries were sunk close to 
their lines of communication which benefited from the rapidly expanding city markets. 
Thus the Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire coalfields were able to sell canal-borne coal at 
Leicester cheaper than their Leicestershire counterparts in the land-locked north-west of 
the County; and cut throat competition had disastrous economic consequences for the 
mid-eighteenth century Leicestershire coal proprietors, especially at Coleorton and 
Swannington which lost their prominent position as major players. These proprietors 
therefore had to force the issue when it was proposed to extend the Soar Navigation 
from Loughborough to Leicester and insist on a connection from their pits to the new 
waterway, to enable them to compete fairly. Their only weapon was the threat of 
destruction to the passing of enabling legislation for the project, and they thereby won 
the Forest Line (canal & railways) which was included in the Leicester Navigation 
company’s Act of Parliament. However, many of the newly opened collieries in the 
Coleorton and Swannington area closed with the failure of the short-lived Charnwood 
Forest Canal at the very end of the eighteenth century. 
 
With improvements to roads through the attention of Turnpike Trusts, and further 
developments in steam engines, new pits mainly aimed at local markets were sunk at 
Coleorton by Sir George Howland Beaumont, 7th baronet following re-establishment of 
his country seat at Coleorton Hall in 1808. By the time of his death in 1827, the 
Coleorton Colliery was in serious financial difficulties and his successor, the 8th baronet 
Sir George Howland Willoughby Beaumont, was placed in the position of having to 
invest heavily to keep his colliery in production with no prospect of expanded markets to 
meet this expenditure. Thus exploitation of the national canal network via the Ashby 
Canal and also the Grand Union Canal, either through re-opening of the Forest Line 
(Leicester Navigation) or the proposed new Leicester and Swannington Railway, was 
imperative. Opening of the Ashby Canal’s Ashby to Ticknall & Cloud Hill Tramway by 
1802 coincided with the sinking of the first pits at Smoile Colliery which was connected 
to the tramway; but this did not give access to the Leicester market or other outlets to 
the east and south of the County. 
 
Further pressure was brought to bear on the Proprietors of the Leicester Navigation to 
re-open the Forest Line, but there was no enthusiasm there to reconstruct the dry canal. 
However, they had a public duty to restore the facility as far as was reasonably 
practicable and a replacement scheme was launched to connect the old Jessop railway 
of the Forest Line, from Coleorton to Thringstone, with a new railway to Loughborough, 
generally on the route of the defunct canal but this idea did not materialise (though it did 
appear in another guise much later). So, the pressure now switched to ensuring that the 
the proposed Leicester & Swannington Railway was extended right up to Beaumont’s 
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Coleorton Colliery in the Smoile on the opposite side to Worthington Rough. Beaumont 
had friends and allies in his proposition but little enthusiasm from the Leicester & 
Swannington Railway directors who, although they acknowledged an advantage from 
increased trade, could not see any guaranteed profit from the financial investment 
required. Self interest projected Sir George Beaumont into an obstuctionalist approach 
similar to that which had resulted in the construction of the ill-fated Forest Line, and a 
compromise was eventually reached whereby Sir George would build his own railway 
with the enabling legislation being made for by the L.&S.R. Company once their line was 
generating income. This was an amicable arrangement which ensured that the 
Coleorton Railway was supported technically by L.&S.R. experts and presumably 
benefitted by a ready pool of labour released after construction of the last leg of their 
railway at Swannington, from whence the Coleorton line continued. 
 
 

 
 

The arrival of the first train at the opening of the “Leicester and Swannington 
Railway” which arrived at Bagworth on July 17th 1832 

By John Fernley 
Oil on paper on canvas support 

© Leicestershire Museums, Arts & Records Service 

 
The “Leicester and Swannington Railway was laid out by Robert Stephenson, and was 
the second line to be constructed in England. The first section from a station by the 
“West Bridge”, in Leicester as far as Bagworth, was opened in 1832, and the line to 
Swannington was completed in the following year. It was closed in the 1930s having 
been operative for over a century. 
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AN APPLICATION TO PARLIAMENT TO BUILD  
THE COLEORTON RAILWAY 

 
Leicester Chronicle – October 20th 1832 
 

An Intended Railway at Coleorton Leicestershire 
 

 
 
Colin Owen in his respected book entitled “The Leicestershire & South Derbyshire 
Coalfield 1200-1900” tells us on page 206:- 
 
“It is clear, therefore, that between 1825 and 1860, with the early introduction of 
effective rail transport, the Leicestershire Coalfield experienced a remarkable 
transformation which changed it from a demoralized group of outdated colleries to a 
highly productive zone of deep modern colleries that were able to make a significant 
contribution to the fuel-supply of the South-east Midlands and the Home Counties. 
Further west, the Derbyshire section of the coalfield had to wait until 1849 before a 
through-railway from Ashby to Burton was opened and, until then, had to continue to rely 
on canal and road transport. Nevertheless, the area does not appear to have suffered 
too greatly and the Moira company continued to be the most productive and efficient 
mining concern in the whole of the coalfield for many years.” 
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AN ALTERNATIVE HISTORY OF  
THE COLEORTON RAILWAY 

HISTORY OF THE COLEORTON RAILWAY – COALVILLE TIMES 14.10.1904. 
CLEMENT E. STRETTON, SECRETARY OF THE PERMANENT WAY INSTITUTION 
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BASED ON THE FOLLOWING & OTHER EVIDENCE, THE PARA OUTLINED BELOW 
HAS BEEN REMOVED FROM THE ABOVE REPORT BY CLEMENT E. STRETTON 
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EXPLANATION OF THE FOLLOWING ANNOTATED 
PLANS AND REPUTED LAND OWNERSHIP SCHEDULES 

FOR THE COLEORTON RAILWAY 

 
PAGE 10 – This 1833 proposed plan shows the complete length of the Coleorton 

Railway from the termination of the Leicester & Swannington Railway at “the incline” in 
the village of Swannington, to the Smoile near Worthington Rough in the Township of 
Worthington (part of the parish of Breedon) 
 

PAGE 11 - This part plan shows the land ownership specific to the Township of 

Worthington annotated with numbers which align with the schedule for that area on the 
following page. 
 

PAGE 12 – This is the schedule of land ownership for the preceding plan. 

 

PAGE 13 – This part plan shows the land ownership in the Township of Thringstone 

annotated with numbers which align with the schedule for that area on the following 
page. This basically is for the area known as Pegg’s Green which became part of the 
Township of Thringstone during the 1807 enclosure awards. The Township of 
Thringstone was part of the ecclesiastical parish of Whitwick. 
 

PAGE 14 - This is the schedule of land ownership for the preceding plan. 

 

PAGE 15 – This part plan shows the land ownership in the Parish of Coleorton 

annotated with numbers which align with the schedule for that area on the following 
page. 
 

PAGE 16 – This is the schedule of land ownership for the preceding plan. 

 

PAGE 17 - This part plan shows the land ownership in the Township of Swannington 

annotated with numbers which align with the schedule for that area on the following 
page. 
 

PAGE 18 - This is the schedule of land ownership for the preceding plan. 

 

The wide yellow line to the right centre of the map on the next page depicts the old 
tramway which ran from the Charnwood Forest Canal at Thringstone wharf with first a 
branch line to Raper and Fenton’s Thringstone Colliery and the main line then went on to 
pass over the Pegg’s Green tunnel before splitting into two branch lines which led to the 
Coleorton Collieries of Boultbee and Godolphin Burslem  It also appears on the maps on 
pages 13 & 15. A schematic diagram also appears on page 19 which shows the 
approximate path of these branch lines. 

 
 

THE LAND OWNERSHIP SCHEDULES ARE FROM THE COLEORTON RAILWAY 
ACT – 10TH JUNE 1833 

SCHEDULE PAGES 1722 - 1726 
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The wide yellow line on the above map depicts the old tramway which ran from the 
Charnwood Forest Canal at Thringstone wharf with first a branch line to Raper and 
Fenton’s Thringstone Colliery and the main line then went on to pass over the Pegg’s 
Green tunnel before splitting into two branch lines which led to the Coleorton Collieries 
of Boultbee and Godolphin Burslem. A schematic diagram also appears on page 19 
which shows the approximate path of these branch lines. 
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SCHEMATIC DIAGRAM (NOT TO SCALE) INCLUDING THE PATH OF THE COLEORTON 
RAILWAY AND THE TRAMWAY BRANCH LINES FROM THE CHARNWOOD FOREST 

CANAL AT THRINGSTONE WHARF TO THE COLLIERIES AT THRINGSTONE AND 
COLEORTON 
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EXTRACTS FROM 1882 SURVEYED 25 INCH O/S MAPS 
SHOWING THE PATH OF THE COLEORTON RAILWAY 

FROM WHERE IT JOINED THE L.&S.R. AT THE INCLINE, 
SWANNINGTON TO WHERE IT JOINED THE 1802 

CLOUD HILL TRAMWAY AT WORTHINGTON ROUGH 
 

Features shown on the maps in sequence are:- 
 

 The Coleorton railway joining the 1802 Cloud Hill Tramway at Worthington rough 

 The Newbold Tunnel 

 Passing over Aqueduct Bridge at Gelsmoor 

 The Pegg’s Green Tunnel 
 The Swannington Incline 
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The 1835 first issued O/S map 
 
 
The above map also shows coloured green, the route of the Coleorton Railway coming from 
Swannington, through Pegg’s Green, in a north westerly direction, and going through the 
Newbold tunnel and finally running alongside the Cloud Hill Tramway, coloured red, for a short 

distance at “Worthington Rough” marked B where lime from Cloud Hill and coal from the Smoile 

area was initially transhipped into the Coleorton Railway horse drawn wagons. 

 
 



 22 

 
 



 23 

 
 



 24 

 
 



 25 

 
 



 26 

A SERIES OF PHOTOGRAPHS SOME OF WHICH 
RELATE TO THE PRECEDING TEXT AND MAPS 

 

 
 

Worthington Rough Junction House 1988 
SK398192 – shown on the 1882 surveyed 25 inch O/S map, parcel 321 (This map is 

not included here) 
 

The Weighbridge and Traffic Controller’s House, situated at Worthington Rough end of 
the Coleorton Railway on the Ashby Canal’s Company’s Willesley to Cloud Hill plateway. 
This tramway was commissioned circa 1802 and carried limestone products and coal to 
the Willesley canal wharf via Ashby. The Coleorton railway, commenced in 1833, and 
connected with the tramway to open up the Leicester market for the limestone products. 
The section of the tramway between Lord Stamford’s Cloud Hill and Breedon Lime-
works and the Coleorton Railway junction, was modified with special dual purpose 
combination rails to accommodate both flanged and un-flanged wagon wheels. The 
junction was on the western (Ashby) side of the Weigh-house. 
 
A similar check-weigh facility and controller’s house was sited (SK415170) on the 
Coleorton Railway at the Swannington junction with the Leicester & Swannington 
Railway. 
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Old Railway Tunnel – Lount Road, Newbold – Southern Entrance 
1971 – After rails were removed 

 

 
 

Before rails were removed 
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The remains of the bridge which carried the Coleorton railway over Aqueduct 
Lane, Gelsmoor (known colloquially as Akadoc lane) 

September 1981, SK407181 looking north-west 
 

 
 

The entrance to the circular brick Pegg’s Green Tunnel at St. George’s Hill, 
Swannington which has now been filled in. 
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Swannington Junction House (circa 1900) 
SK514170) – shown on the 1882 surveyed 25 inch O/S map, parcel 84 –  

shown on page 27 
Image reproduced from: Jarvis, J. Porter to Signalman 1937 – 1965  

(Dover Reprint, undated) 
Photo credit – Midland Railway Trust 

 
This view looking roughly north-west along the route of the old Coleorton railway 
shows the tunnel mouth to the left in the far distance. The incline was behind the 
photographer with the line to the pumping station swinging away behind him to 

the right 
 
 

Jarvis wrote “Califat pit had a tramway, originally built to connect with the Hinckley to 
Melbourne turnpike (later the A447) at the point where the “Fountain Inn” now stands 
(subsequently demolished) and where it is likely that a weighbridge was used ; when the 
incline was put into operation, this tramway was extended to meet it. The second rail 
connection that brought coal to the bottomof the Incline was the Coleorton Railway. 
Along this stretch of line was not only Coleorton pit, but one at Pegg’s Green and 
another at California as well as a brickyard. The tunnel was approximately 440 yards 
long and went under the Ashby to Loughborough road (now the A512). The house 
erected in the cutting that led to the tunnel still stands, albeit modernised, and originally 
housed the Manager of the Coleorton Railway. A weighbridge was situated outside, and 
Joe Wheatley, who lived there for 30 years, remembered that when it was removed, he 
walked underneath the house to observe what was left of the working apparatus”. 
 
Hand me down hearsay has it that the Wheatleys’ had lived at the house for 60 years 
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

 
 

A typical design of horse drawn wagons with flanged wheels that would have been used 
on the Coleorton Railway, running on rib (edge) rails. 

 

        
 

SECTION OF TYPICAL PLATEWAY RAIL 
 

              
 
                           CAST IRON FISH BELLY RIB (EDGE) RAIL.         

                STEPHENSON 1818 PATENT 
 

In the early 1800’s, George Stephenson held the patents and rights for the best cast iron 
rib (edge) rails (see illustration above), which were typically only 3 feet in length. These 
tended to be brittle and broke easily.  John Birkinshaw in 1820 developed and patented 
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a method of rolled wrought / malleable iron edge rails which could be made in 15 foot 
lengths. These were technically better in all respects, and Stephenson used these rails 
on the “Stockton and Darlington Railway” and they were also used on the “Leicester and 
Swannington Railway“. It is therefore likely, although no records exist, that the same rails 
were used on the “Coleorton Railway“. The author recalls these lines still existing in 
Stoney Lane, and going over the lane from the embankment on either side. They were 
later taken up by the council. 
 

 
In “The Leicester to Swannington Railway” by C.R.Clinker (Leicestershire Archeological 
Society) it is recorded on the only surviving shipment document (1832 to 1845) that the 
following shipments of burnt lime were sent via the Coleorton Railway and Leicester to 
Swannington Railway to Leicester from Cloud Hill. 
      
     Tons  Cwts  Qt’s 
First 6 months of 1833   371      
 

The above would have presumably been transported to Long Lane, Whitwick by horse 
drawn wagons on the turnpike roads as the railway to “Swannington Incline” was not 
completed till November 1833. 
 
First 6 months of 1844   783  11  2 
Last 6 months of 1844   2044  9  1 
First 6 months of 1845   675  8  3 
 

The above would have been transported by horse drawn wagons on the Coleorton 
Railway to be transhipped onto the Leicester & Swannington railway steam engine 
driven wagons at “Swannington Incline” 
 
 

 

 
 


